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The School of Nursing
of the Medical College of Virginia

This history of the School of Nursing, Medical College of Virginia, Virginia Common-

wealth University, is prepared in commemoration of the 75th anniversary of the Medical
College of Virginia School of Nursing, celebrated during the academic year 1968-1969.
Credit for the compilation of the material by Mrs. Helen Wiesmann, Miss Marguerite
Nicholson, Miss Joann Spitler, and Miss Thelma Hoke is gratefully acknowledged.
This publication is dedicated to all alumnae of the school.




History of The
School of Nursing

of The Medical
College of Virginia

The Medical Col-

lege of Virginia was
opened as the medical department
of Hampden-Sydney College. The
first nurses were Sisters of Charity
from Emmitsburg, Maryland. The
infirmary was located in the old
Union Hotel at Nineteenth and
Main streets. These sisters cared for
patients until 1845 when they were
recalled by their order because the
medical faculty gave them very little
latitude in their nursing duties.

The Egyptian Build-

ing, first permanent
building (restored in 1938 by the
generosity of the late Bernard M.
Baruch in memory of his father, Dr.
Simon Baruch, a graduate in 1862),
was financed by contributions from
the Commonwealth of Virginia
($25,000), the City of Richmond
($2,000), and a loan from the Liter-
ary Fund of the Commonwealth.
The architect was Thomas Stewart
of Philadelphia, who also designed

Saint Paul’s church in the same year.
In 1853 a bitter

controversy arose
between the medical department at
Richmond and the board of Hamp-
den-Sydney College over the ap-
pointment of a medical faculty
member. For the first time, Hamp-
den-Sydney College did not make
the appointment recommended by
the medical faculty, appointing in-
stead another member of its choos-
ing. The controversy led to a suit



Miss SADIE HEATH CABANISS

that was decided by the Virginia
Supreme Court of Appeals, and the
Medical College of Virginia was
chartered on February 25, 1854 as
an independent institution.

On the condition

that all property be

deeded to the Commonwealth of

Virginia, the General Assembly ap-
propriated $30,000 for the construc-

tion of a separate hospital, and the

College became a State institution.
Up to this time, patients were housed
in the College buildings. This Col-
lege Infirmary, later named Old
Dominion Hospital, opened in April
1861 with a bed capacity of 80.
During the War Between the States
for two years before Confederate
forces could organize a system ol
military hospitals, -soldiers were
cared for here with a very low death

rate.

Following the war,
Virginia and her
sister states of the Confederacy were
excluded from the Union and were
under military rule. (Virginia was

—

re-admitted to the Union in 1870.,)
Cooperating with the “Bureau of
Refugees and Abandoned Lands

Office of the Surgeon in Chiel.,” the

&
( w“g’;’;‘ established its first outpatient
department. Virginia, at that time
vas the I)ﬁ":f" nent { the Po



The University Col-

lege of Medicine
was established just two blocks from
the Egyptian Building, at Twelfth
and Clay streets, by Dr. Hunter
Holmes McGuire.

Our school of nursing dates back
to the Virginia Hospital Training
School for Nurses which the Uni-
versity College of Medicine inau-
gurated at its beginning.

The College In-
‘ firmary had been
under various managements and
was closed entirely for some years.
In this year, the building was re-
conditioned, and the name was
changed to Old Dominion Hospital.
A school of nursing was opened
with Sadie Heath Cabaniss as su-
perintendent. The course of prepara-
tion for nursing was two years in
length.

Two nurses were graduated from
the Virginia Hospital Training
School of the University College of
Medicine.
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Nine nurses were

graduated from the
Old Dominion Hospital Training
School for Nurses.

The Memorial Hos-

pital, now MCV
South Hospital, was opened in July.
The Old Dominion Hospital was
closed, and the nursing students
were transferred to the Memorial
Hospital Training School for Nurses.
The curriculum was lengthened to
three years.
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The Nurse Practice Act, regulat-
ing the practice of nursing in the
Commonwealth, was passed by the
Virginia General Assembly, largely
through the efforts of Miss Sadie
Heath Cabaniss. Virginia was one of
the first three states to require regis-
tration of nurses. A Board of Nurse
Examiners was named by the Gover-
nor. Miss Cabaniss was named to
the Board and served as its chair-
man for nine years.
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The Memorial Hos-

pital training pro-
gram was approved by the Virginia
State Board of Nurse Examiners.
' The Medical Col-

lege of Virginia and
the University College of Medicine
amalgamated. When this had been
accomplished, the Memorial Hos-
pital Corporation deeded its hospital
to the Medical College of Virginia.
The training school for nurses of
Memorial Hospital then became the
school of nursing of the Medical
College of Virginia.

With the amalgamation of the
Medical College of Virginia and the
University College of Medicine, the
Virginia Hospital of the University
College of Medicine was taken over
by the City of Richmond and was
used for clinical teaching by the
Medical College of Virginia. The
city operated a school for nurses
from 1914 to 1922.

The State Board of
Nurse Examiners

recorded for the first time the in-
spection of schools by a person ap-
pointed for that purpose.

The Saint Philip

Hospital for Negro
patients was opened November 1,
and a school of nursing for Negro
students was established. This school
was administered by the Medical
College of Virginia School of Nurs-
ing, but was run as a separate entity
known as the Saint Philip School of
Nursing of the Medical College of
Virginia.

An arrangement

was completed
whereby graduates in nursing of the
various hospitals and schools con-
nected with either the University
College of Medicine or the Medical
College of Virginia were eligible for
membership in the general Alumni
Association of the Medical College
of Virginia., This arrangement
covered nurse alumnae of the Vir-
ginia Hospital when run by the
University College of Medicine; the

Virginia Hospital when run by the
City of Richmond; the Old Domin-
ion Hospital; the Memorial Hospi-
tal; and the Medical College of
Virginia.
‘ To facilitate the in-
. terest of the nursing
group, a nursing section of the
Alumni Association of the College
was inaugurated.
[ The Board of Visi-
! tors recognized the
school of nursing as coordinate with
the schools of medicine, dentistry,
and pharmacy headed by a dean,
the same as the other schools.
Cabaniss Hall, the
, first dormitory on
the campus, was built and opened
for living quarters and teaching
space for nursing students. It was
named for Miss Sadie Heath Ca-
baniss.
| A four months’
course in public
health nursing for Negro graduate
nurses was inaugurated in the Saint



Miss ELI1ZABETH C. REITZ

Philip School of Nursing. This was
designed to meet the need for addi-
tional personnel in the Southern
states because of the expanded health
program made possible by the Social
Security Act of 1936. Students were
subsidized by their respective states.
A nine months’ program, leading to
the standard certificate, was also
offered.

The certificate

course in public
health nursing was accredited by
the National Organization for Pub-
lic Health Nursing.

The school of nurs-

ing initiated a cur-
riculum in addition to the diploma
program leading to the degree of
bachelor of science in nursing for
students who had completed two

vears of selected liberal arts courses
in an approved college or university
prior to admission to the Medical
College of Virginia School of Nurs-
Ing.

The diploma pro-

grams of both the
Medical College of Virginia and the
Saint Philip schools of nursing were
accredited by the National League
of Nursing Education.

The public health

nursing course,
given since 1936 in the Saint Philip
school, was offered to white students.

The first B.S. degree in nursing

was awarded from the five-year
program.

I'he position of di-

rector of nursing
service for the College Hospitals




was created, and for the first time
since 1893, the dean of the school
of nursing ceased to function in the
dual role of head of the school and
director of nursing service.

The public health

nursing programs
of both schools of nursing were
combined into one unit in the Medi-
cal College of Virginia School of
Nursing.
| V Trends in nursing

education led to the
recommendation to inaugurate a
four-year basic baccalaureate degree
program leading to the degree of
bachelor of science in nursing. The
Board of Visitors approved the ter-
mination of the diploma and the
five-year degree programs and the
four-year generic program was in-
itiated.

Randolph-Minor Hall, named for
Miss Agnes Dillon Randolph and
Miss Nannie Jacquelin Minor, was
opened to house nursing students
to meet the increased enrollment. In
this building, additional classroom
facilities were provided on the first
floor

The first freshmen

\ were admitted to

the new basic baccalaureate degree
program.

The program of

: study 1n public

health nursing was discontinued.

' S The first class to

complete the four-

Miss E. LoOUISE GRANT




MRsS. FRANCES HELEN ZEIGLER TUNNELL

year program leading to the degree
of bachelor of science in nursing
was graduated.

1 () = (J The Medical Col-
D (\ lege of Virginia was
one of the early institutions in Vir-
ginia to establish a two-year pro-
gram leading to an associate in
science degree in nursing.
] () :; (_ The College was ad-
«/ 7 mitted to member-
ship in the Southern Association of
Colleges and Secondary Schools, the
first institution in the South of its
Kind to achieve this recognition.

1 9 () ( ) The baccalaureate
: : degree program, in-

cluding the public health nursing
component, received initial accredi-
tation by the National League for
Nursing. This was the first degree
program in Virginia to have its
public health nursing component
nationally accredited.

The associate degree program re-
ceived national accreditation at the
same time; it was the third such
program accredited by the Depart-
ment of Baccalaureate and Higher
Degree Programs, National League
for Nursing and the only one na-
tionally accredited in the South.

? {\J !{;’ ") The Saint Philip

r L. School of Nursing

for Negro students was discontinued
as Negroes were eligible for accep-
tance in the Medical College of Vir-
ginia School of Nursing. Negro stu-
dents have been admitted to this
school in 1954,

Due to low enrollment and to
meet the pressure for admission into
the baccalaureate program, the as-
sociate degree program was dis-
continued.
/& /1 The National
. 7 UJ "7 League for Nursing
accredited the plan to admit regis-
tered nurses from diploma and asso-
ciate degree programs into the basic
baccalaureate program. This was
the first such accreditation granted
to a school in Virginia.

‘ ¢ [ The last class in the
| 7/ 1)) associate degree
program was graduated.

Virginia's first full-time depart-

ment for continuing education for
nurses was opened at the Medical
College of Virginia School of
Nursing.
1{()A The first registered
I 7 \J / nurse student grad-
uated from the baccalaureate degree
program.

The State Council of Higher
Education in Virginia approved the
proposal to initiate Virginia's first
master’s program in nursing. Cur-
ricula in the fields of medical-surgi-
cal, psychiatric, maternal-child, and
public health nursing were approved

The Nursing Section of the Alum-
ni Association raised funds and



inaugurated an Annual Nursing
Lectureship. Miss Jo Eleanor Elliott,
president of the American Nurses’
Assoclation, was the first lecturer.

A new high-rise, completely air
conditioned dormitory for women
was opened on the north side of the
campus. Nursing students were
housed in this facility. The Cabaniss
Hall name was transferred to the
new dormitory for women students.

Old Cabaniss Hall was renovated
for teaching purposes only and was
renamed the Nursing Education
Building.

The first students
were admitted to
the master’s program.

By act of the General Assembly
of Virginia, Virginia Commonwealth
University was formed on July 1,
with the Medical College of Virginia
and the former Richmond Profes-
sional Institute as its component
parts.

The school of nurs-

ing at the Academic
Division began phasing out its
program. When its present students
have completed their program (by
1971), the Medical College of Vir-
ginia School of Nursing becomes
the one school of nursing for Vir-
ginia Commonwealth University.

Miss Virginia Henderson was the
first Visiting Nurse Scholar in Resi-
dence.

Miss SyBiL MACLEAN

Dr. Doris B. YINGLING




School of Nursing Pin

Miss Sadie Heath Cabaniss, who
headed the Old Dominion Hospital
Training School for Nurses upon its
establishment in 1895, designed the
Medical College of Virginia School
of Nursing pin. It is very much like
the one she wore following her
graduation from the Johns Hopkins
Hospital School of Nursing.

This pin is in the form of a Mal-
tese Cross, the emblem of the Knights
of Saint John at Malta. Each of the
eight points of this cross represents
one of the Beatitudes in the New
Testament of the Bible.




Nursing Students’
Caps and
Uniforms

-"’"wavc*i—?.

In 1893 the first superintendent
of the Virginia Hospital Training
School for Nurses designed the cap
for nursing students. Made by hand
of crisp white linen with two rows
of fluted ruffles separated by a broad
white band, it was patterned after
the cap of Bellevue Hospital of New
York. A white bib and apron was
worn over the blue and white striped
dress. High top black shoes and

black hose completed the uniform.

Miss Sadie Heath Cabaniss pat-
terned the white organdy cap for
the students attending Old Dominion
Hospital Training School for Nurses
(opened in 1895) after that of her
alma mater, Johns Hopkins Hospital
School of Nursing. Uniforms were
pink and white stripe with white bib
and apron; shoes and hose were
black.



Dr. Ennion G. Williams and Miss
Agnes Brennan, nursing supervisor,
designed the cap for the Memorial
Hospital Training School for Nurses
which opened in 1903. This cap was
like the present Medical College of
Virginia School of Nursing cap, but
was “set up” differently. The brim
was folded in half, and the crown
extended above it to cover the knot
of hair on top of the head. The

uniform consisted of a blue and
white checkered dress with white
bib and apron. Black shoes and hose
were worn.,

After the University College of
Medicine, the Medical College of
Virginia, and Memorial Hospital
were consolidated in 1913, nursing
students adopted the uniform of the
Memorial Hospital Training School.
They wore the dress and apron

without cap and bib for the first two
months; at the end of this period, if
their work was satisfactory, they
were allowed to don the cap and
bib.

In 1925 the uniform and sleeves
were shortened, and the collar style
was changed. For their first four
months, students wore the dress and
apron and black shoes and hose.
After the probationary period, the



cap, bib, white shoes, and white
hose were worn. The brim on the
cap was enlarged gradually, and in
1929 senior students were allowed
to add black bands.

A new nursing student uniform,
introduced in 1933, was worn all
three years. Caps were added after
the first four months.

When the baccalaureate degree
program was established in 1954,

uniforms, caps, shoes, and hose were
white. The caps, however, were not
worn until the sophomore year.

In 1956 a navy blue uniform was
added for wear during the sopho-
more year and for the public health
experience in the senior year.

Students in the associate degree
program wore a white uniform with
a special insignia on the pocket,
white shoes, and white hose. Their

white cap was folded and buttoned
in the back and had a black band
placed in the middle of the turned-
back brim. A green cape, lined in
white, completed the uniform.
Mrs. Marilyn Bevilaqua, a gradu-
ate of the Richmond Professional
[nstitute School of Art who formerly
taught art appreciation to the Medi-
cal College of Virginia nursing
students, designed a new uniform



¢

to be equally functional for class-
room and clinical use. An A-line
dress in bright sea blue, this uniform
is bound around the neck and above-
the elbow sleeve by bright green.
A white apron, bound in the match-
ing green and buttoning at the
shoulders and down the front, is
worn when the student is in the
clinical area.

Special insignia, different for each

(-&

year, are on the sleeve. A circle in
green and white represents the first
year. A white Maltese Cross, cor-
responding to the school of nursing
pin, is placed on top of the circle
for the junior year. In the senior
year, a red heart, indicating a real
commitment to nursing, is placed
in the center of the cross.

The cap is a miniature version of
the graduate cap. A single green

band across the left edge indicates
the wearer to be a sophomore stu-
dent. A junior wears two bands on
her cap, and a senior, three.

The nursing students wear beige
hose and navy blue shoes with
their unifarms. A matching full-
length navy blue cape, with oxford
turndown collar and MCV initials

in green, complete the outht



Heads of The Medical College of Virginia

Schools of Nursing

VIRGINIA HOSPITAL TRAINING SCHOOL FOR NURSES
Miss W.B. YEAMBN . . cvisomsisnssmesnes Head Nurse, 1893-1899
Miss Agnes Dillon Randolph . ............ Superintendent, 1900, 1903
Miss A. Johnston . .............. ... Superintendent, 1901
Miss ........ Harlan ........¢o0000s00.
Miss ........ Underhill ............... Superintendent, 1902
Miss M. Southall ......................
INBREEY o 0 e s 3507 JERO (S RS UANe SR o Superintendent, 1904
Miss ........ MO . 2T e s B v il i F R
Miss Agnes Dillon Randolph, R.IN. ........ Superintendent, 1905, 1909, 1911-1913
MRS ool s EEREE, BN o vinih el wn: wvis Superintendent, 1906
Miss Edith Eaton, RN. ................. Superintendent, 1907
Miss Anna B, Clay, RN, oo oviov s v s 4o Superintendent, 1908
Miss N. &, Summens, BN ... ..cuvvsvisaa Superintendent, 1910
OLD DOMINION HOSPITAL TRAINING SCHOOL FOR NURSES
Miss Sadie Heath Cabaniss, RN. ......... Superintendent, 1895-1901
Miss Charlie Austin, RN, ...cnoivooivain Superintendent, 1902-1903
IEMORIAL HOSPITAL TRAINING SCHOOL FOR NURSES
Miss Rose Z. VanVort. B.N. . coousiconsse Superintendent, 1903-1904,1906-1912
i Breman, BiN. .o :sucsonses Superintendent, 1905
Miss Agnes Dillon Randolph, RN. ....... Superintendent, 1913
VIRGINIA HOSPITAL (CITY) TRAINING SCHOOL FOR NURSES
Miss Ethel Cummings, RN. . ............. Superintendent, 1914-1916
Miss Ruby Parrish, RN. ................ Superintendent, 1917
Miss Hallie Taliaferro, RN. ............. Superintendent, 1918-1820
Miss Bessie Terrell, RN. ................ Superintendent, 1921-1922
MEDICAI LLEGE OF VIRGINIA SCHOOL OF NURSING
Miss Agnes Dillon Randolph, RN.......... Superintendent, 1914
Miss ........ Bowers, RN. ........ .« . . Superintendent, 1915
Miss . ..... .. Thayer, RN. ............ Superintendent, 1916
Miss Elizabeth Myers, RN. .............. Directress, 1917-1918
Miss Frances Praught, RN. . ............. Directress, 1919
Miss Jennie Jones, RN. . ................ Directress, 1920
Miss Josephine Kimerer, RN. ............ Directress, 1921
Miss Elizabeth C. Reitz, RN. ............ Director, 1922-1925, Dean, 1925-1929
Miss Frances Helen Zeigler, R.N., B.S. ......Dean, 1929-1938
Miss E. Louise Grant, RN., B.A., M.A. ....Dean, 1939-1946
Miss Sybil MacLean, R.N., A.B., M.A. ....Dean, 1947-1957

Miss Doris B. Yingling, R.N.,B.S., M.A., Ed.D.Dean, 1958-
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